Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-3-2018

Ayala v. Robert J. Meyers Farms, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 46186

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of Case:

The nature of the underlying proceedings before the Idaho State Industrial Commission is for workers' compensation benefits due Claimant, Mario Ayala, (hereafter referenced as "Mario") by reason of industrial accidents occurring on October 6, 2009, and August 28, 2013.

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition:

Mario was involved in a work-related motor vehicle accident on October 6, 2009. Defendants-Respondents conceded the compensability of Mario's neck; left shoulder; and, left elbow injuries, but denied his low back injury. Prior to hearing Mario suffered a work-related fall on August 28, 2013, injuring his right knee. The 2009 and 2013 claims were then consolidated.

Hearing was set to be held upon February 18, 2016. Shortly prior to hearing, the parties entered into negotiations and, upon February 17, 2016, counsel for Defendants, Mr. Paul Augustine, notified the Commission that the matter had settled, and hearing was vacated. However, the proposed settlement instruments did not conform to the terms as understood by Mario and his counsel. Mario's Motion to Enforce Agreement to Settle; Alternative Motion for Immediate Re-Setting of Hearing; and, for Sanctions was then filed. The Commission's June 7, 2016, Order held that, "...since the parties are in obvious disagreement regarding the settlement of this case and neither party has an objection to re-setting this matter for hearing, Claimant's Motion to Re-Set is GRANTED."

Hearing was held before Referee Michael E. Powers, which included the testimony of both Mario; and, Mr. Morgan Meyers, upon behalf of Defendants. Following the parties' post-hearing depositions and briefs, the matter was submitted for decision. Thereafter, the Commission advised

that Referee Powers had a backlog of cases and,

[t]he Commissioners are willing to write this decision on the record adduced to expedite moving this along. If you are willing for the Commissioners to do so, we will reassign the case and will proceed accordingly. If not, resolution of the case will be handled by Referee Powers in due course.

R., Ex "Additional Documents," 1, p. 2245 (hereinafter referenced as R., EX. AD. 1, p. 2245). The Commission was advised that, as a decision on the record "...would then be absent the consideration of Mr. Ayala's observational credibility which (was) believed to be an important consideration in this case... both Mr. Ayala and (counsel's) office are willing to wait for Mr. Powers' Recommendation." R., Ex. AD. 2, p. 2247. Ignoring Claimant's objection, decision "on the record" was entered. Following unsuccessful Motions for Reconsideration; to Reopen; for Modification of Award and/or to Correct Manifest Injustice; and, for Consolidation, Claimant filed the instant appeal.

III. Statement of Facts:

1. Mario's Personal Data and Employment History:

Mario was born in Mexico and is currently sixty-seven (67) years of age. *Tr.*, p. 49, LL. 5-18. Mario's family was poor and he terminated formal education after the third grade to help support his family. *Tr.*, p. 49, LL. 19-22; and, p. 51, LL. 1-8. Mario has had no other education or training. *Tr.*, p. 51, LL. 19-22. He reads "hardly anything." His maths skills are "not very good." His wife, with one year of education, handles the family's finances. *Tr.*, p. 49, L. 23-p. 50, L. 22.

Mario moved to the United States in 1974, and is a U.S. citizen. *Tr.*, p. 52, L. 21-p. 53, L. 10. Initially Mario could speak no English but, "from day to day" his English gets better. *Tr.*, p. 53, L. 15-p. 54, L. 2. Prior to Meyers Farms, Mario was employed primarily as a farm laborer and had never been a boss or a foreman. *Tr.*, p. 58, L. 21-p. 60, L. 18.

Mario began employment with Meyers Farms on or about March 1, 1995, and, through hearing herein remained employed there. At Meyers Farms, Mario had two helpers and was considered the foreman. *Tr.*, p. 60, L. 19-p. 64, L. 11.

2. Accident and Injury of October 6, 2009; and, Medical Treatment:

Upon October 6, 2009, Mario was involved in a motor vehicle accident and was treated for laceration to his left hand and left-sided chest pain at Elmore County Hospital. *Tr.*, p. 85, L. 14-p. 88, L 5. Upon October 13, 2009, Mario re-presented with left shoulder discomfort, and was instructed to follow-up with Glenns Ferry Health Center (GFHC). Cl. Ex. 4, pp. 144-148. Mario presented to GFHC upon October 16, November 4, November 12, November 16, and November 30, 2009, with progressing neck, left shoulder and arm symptoms. Following cervical MRI, Mario was referred for neurosurgical consultation. Cl. Ex. 6, pp. 191-208.

Mario presented to neurosurgeon D. Peter Reedy upon January 8, 2010, with neck and left upper extremity symptomatology; and, "...if he stands for 20-25 minutes his legs go numb." Cl. Ex. 5, p. 150. Dr. Reedy diagnosed cervical spondylosis with disk herniation at C5-6 and C6-7, and took Mario to surgery, involving multi-level diskectomies and fusion. Cl. Ex. 5, pp. 155-158.

Following cervical surgery Mario's left shoulder and arm symptomatology came to the forefront. Upon Mario's first presentment, Dr. Reedy had suggested orthopedic consultation, which was not put into Mario's medical records. The State Insurance Fund (hereinafter referred to as "Fund") authorized Mario's referral to Orthopedic Associates, in Boise. Cl. Ex. 5, p. 160. At Orthopedic Associates (Drs. Hessing and Clawson), Mario underwent subacromial decompression, distal claviculectomy, labral and joint debridement and rotator cuff repair, by Dr. Hessing; and, left ulnar nerve neurolysis with anterior subcutaneous transposition by Dr. Clawson, upon December 9,

2010. Cl. Ex. 8, pp. 421-428. Dr. Hessing released Mario upon April 20, 2011, noting that Mario remained symptomatic, but thought "...that he can live with his present symptoms." Cl. Ex. 8, pp. 445-446. Upon May 3, 2011, Mario re-presented to Dr. Clawson with complaints of neck pain with numbness into his hands; and, that his shoulder was painful and stiff. Upon November 8, 2011, Dr. Clawson opined that Mario's symptoms emanated from his cervical spine. Mario then complained of lower back pain. Dr. Clawson advised Mario to "revisit" Dr. Reedy for both his cervical and low back complaints. Cl. Ex. 8, pp. 452-456.

Mario re-presented to Dr. Reedy upon December 5, 2011, with neck and low back symptoms,

...that he has had since the accident but that was never investigated. He said that when I first saw him I said lets work on the neck first and then we will deal with the lumbar issue but it never came up again. He describes what sounds like neurogenic claudication in that he can go into a store and walk around for 15-20 minutes but then he has bilateral leg pain, especially in the thighs.... I think he certainly should have gotten an MRI of the lumbar spine and I will ask his attorney to get his case reopened so that we may pursue the lumbar end of things.

Cl. Ex. 5, p. 166. As will be discussed subsequently, the Fund ultimately denied compensability for Mario's low back.

3. Accident and Injury of August 28, 2013; and, Medical Treatment:

Mario continued employment with Meyers Farms. Upon August 28, 2013, Mario fell and injured his right knee, for which he was treated by Dr. Myers Johnson. Incidental to Mario's right knee injury, Dr. Johnson noted Mario's pain "...in his lower back and radiating into both anterior thighs and numbness and tingling down the legs...." Cl. Ex. 13, p. 499.

Mario ultimately underwent right total knee arthroplasty (TKA) by Dr. Johnson. Cl. Ex. 13, pp. 514-517. Dr. Johnson last saw Mario upon September 22, 2014, and again documented low back symptomatology for which he recommended reevaluation by a spine surgeon; and, noted Mario's

referral to Dr. Howard Shoemaker for a right knee impairment rating. Cl. Ex. 13, pp. 524-525. Dr. Shoemaker assigned Mario 21% impairment of the lower extremity, apportioned 50% to pre-existing conditions. Cl. Ex. 14, pp. 538-540; Def. Ex. 4, p. 008.

Mario then presented to Dr. Paul Montalbano for his continuing low back presentment.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Was the conduct of the Commission in reassigning these proceedings to itself following hearing presided over by Mr. Powers, over the written objection of Claimant/Appellant:
 - a. In excess of the Commission's jurisdiction, power and/or authority?
 - b. Arbitrary and capricious, so as to constitute an abuse of discretion?
 - c. Without enacted guidelines, in violation of Mario's due process rights?
- 2. Whether the Commission erred by considering medical records specifically excluded from the record?
- 3. Did the Commission err in its determination that Claimant's low back presentment following the October 6, 2009, motor vehicle accident was not compensable?
- 4. Whether denial of Claimant's I.C. §§ 72-718 and 72-719 Motions was an abuse of discretion?
- a. Whether the Commission erred in concluding that an I.C. § 72-719(1)(a) Motion required a change in Claimant's physical injury as a condition precedent thereof?
- 5. Whether the Commission's findings, rationale and/or determinations within the Orders appealed from, to the extent adverse to Appellant, were erroneous as a matter of law; supported by substantial and competent evidence of record; set-forth specific findings required for

appellate review; arbitrary, capricious, or the product of abuse of discretion; and/or, whether the Commission failed to apply the law to the evidence of record in reaching the same?

6. Whether, pursuant to Idaho Code § 72-804 and/or Rule 41, I.A.R., Claimant is entitled to reasonable attorney fees on appeal herein.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Appellate Review:

Upon appeal, the Supreme Court will uphold the Commission's Findings of Fact, if supported by substantial, competent evidence. The "substantial evidence rule" requires a Court to determine whether the Commission's Findings of Fact are reasonable. In doing so, the Court should not read only one side of the case and, if any evidence is therein found, sustain the Commission's action and ignore the record to the contrary. *Ewins v. Allied Security* 138 Idaho 343, 63 P.3d 469 (Idaho 2003); and, *Rudolph v. Spudnik Equip.*, 139 Idaho 776, 86 P.3d 490 (Idaho 2004).

The Supreme Court freely reviews the Commission's Conclusions of Law. *Hamilton ex rel. Hamilton v. Reeder Flying Serv.*, 135 Idaho 568, 21 P.3d 890 (Idaho 2001). Determining the meaning of a statute or applying law to undisputed facts constitutes matters of law on appeal. An Appellate Court may apply the law to undisputed facts, *de novo. Martel v. Bulotti*, 138 Idaho 451, 65 P.3d 192 (Idaho 2003). The Court is required to set aside the Order of the Commission where the Commission failed to make a "proper application of law to the evidence," or where the Commission's Conclusions of Law are unsupported by its Findings of Fact. *Bortz v. Payless Drug Store*, 110 Idaho 942, 719 P.2d 1202 (Idaho 1986).

II. Reassigning this Matter from Referee Powers to Itself Following Hearing Over the Written Objection of Claimant was in Excess of the Commission's Jurisdiction, Power and/or Authority; Constituted an Abuse of Discretion as Being Arbitrary and Capricious; and, Without Benefit of Properly Enacted Regulations and/or Guidelines, in Violation of Claimant's Due Process Rights.

As a creature of legislative invention, the Commission may only act pursuant to an enumerated power, whether it be directly statutory or based upon rules and regulations properly issued by the Commission pursuant to I.C. § 72-508. *Curr v. Curr*, 124 Idaho 686, 864 P.2d 132 (1993). If the Commission acts beyond the bounds of its statutory authority such conduct is arbitrary, capricious and a manifest abuse of its discretion. In challenging the decision of the Commission, there is no presumption in favor of jurisdiction or due process. *Cook v. Massey*, 38 Idaho 264, 220 P. 1188, (1923). I.C. § 72-717 states that, "[i]f the matter has been assigned for hearing by a ...referee ...the record of such hearing, together with the recommended findings and determination, shall be submitted to the Commission for its review and decision." (Emphasis added). Procedurally, the statute clearly contemplates that following hearing by a referee, the record together with the referee's recommended findings are to be submitted to the Commission for its review and decision. Statutorily, there is no authority enabling the Commission to reassign a claim following hearing before a referee to itself and issue its decision "on the record," as it did in the instant proceedings.

Pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 72-508 and 72-707, the Commission adopted the Judicial Rules of Practice and Procedure (JRPP) to govern judicial matters under its jurisdiction. Introduction, Judicial Rules of Practice and Procedure. Rule 10, JRPP, sets forth the "Hearing Procedure." Neither there nor elsewhere within the JRPP is there any rule authorizing the Commission to reassign a claim to itself following hearing before a referee. Attached hereto as Addendum A are copies of

the Introduction and Rule 10, JRPP.

In *Kelley v. Blue Ribbon Linen Supply, Inc.*, 159 Idaho 324, 360 P.3d 333 (2015), Chief Justice Jones commented regarding Title 72 cases where the Commission disregarded the referee's findings, conclusions and recommendation, without explanation, and noted that,

...a referee acts as the eyes and ears of the Commission. Both hearing officers and referees hear live testimony and the credibility determinations that play into their factual findings. ...The Commission should hereafter take it upon itself to ensure that a referee's recommended decision is always included as part of the record on appeal. ...Otherwise, this Court does not have the complete picture of the case upon which to base an informed decision on appeal.

In Chadwick v. Multi-State Electric, LLC., 159 Idaho 451, 362 P.3d 526 (2015), Chief Justice Jones added that,

[a] party to a workers' compensation dispute, just like a litigant in any other type of administrative proceeding, has a right to a reasoned decision and, where the findings of the Commission depart from those of the Referee, there should be an explanation. Although the Commission has its own procedural rules and is not bound by the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act, there is no reason why the Commission should not observe accepted practice for IDAPA proceedings where the administrative agency is utilizing the services of a hearing officer.

This Court has attached significance to the observations and perceptions of hearing officers who presided at hearing and thusly heard the testimony of witnesses "live." *Woodfield v. Board of Professional Discipline*, 127 Idaho 738, 746, 905 P.2d 1047, 1053 (Ct. App. 1995) stated "[w]here the agency's findings disagree with those of the hearing panel, this Court will scrutinize the agency's findings more critically." The conduct of the Commission herein deprived the parties and this Court, on appeal, of the benefit of the Referee's recommended Findings, Conclusions, and Decision, inclusive of the Referee's observational credibility of Mario Ayala.

It is clear and certain that the Commission's conduct violated the procedure contemplated

by I.C. §§ 72-506, 72-709(1), 72-714(3), and 72-717, together with Rule 10, JRPP, and thusly exceeded the Commission's jurisdiction and/or authority; was arbitrary, capricious and an abuse of discretion; and, was in violation of Claimant's procedural right of due process.

III. The Commission Erred by Considering Medical Records Specifically Excluded from the Record.

The Commission reviewed, considered and incorporated into its rationale certain of Mario's medical records not admitted into evidence. Specifically, Finding of Fact 7 (hereafter F/F) references pages 65 and 115 of Claimant's Exhibit 3; F/F 8 references page 129 of Claimant's Exhibit 3; in F/F 42 the Commission noted counsel's correspondence to Dr. Hajjar of February 4, 2016, failed to synopsize records from GFHC prior to September 14, 2007 (Cl. Ex. 10, p. 474i) and thereafter referenced page 115 of Claimant's Exhibit 3; footnote 4 of F/F 58 noted that Dr. Hammond's causation opinion was without synopsis of records of GFHC from November, 2001 and September, 2007; and, F/F 71 again criticizes Dr. Hammond's causation opinion upon the basis that he was not aware of records from GFHC from 2001 to 2007. Footnote 1 upon pages 1 and 2, candidly concedes that, "[t]herefore, and notwithstanding the Commission's previous accession to Claimant's proposal to withdraw these Exhibits these portions of Exhibit 3 are considered in this decision." R., pp. 129-199. Such constitutes absolute error which, standing alone, requires reversal of the Commission's April 9, 2018, decision. JRPP 10C1 requires that each party serve copies of all exhibits to be offered into evidence at hearing. However, Rule 10F specifically provides that, "[t]he filing of a document ...does not signify its admission in evidence, and only those documents which have been admitted as evidence shall be included in the record of proceedings of the case."

If the findings of the Commission are not supported by substantial, competent evidence, they

will be set aside on appeal. *Dean v. Dravo Corp.*, 97 Idaho 158, 161, 540 P.2d 1337, 1340 (1975). *Mazzone v. Texas Roadhouse, Inc.*, 154 Idaho 750, 302 P.3d 718, (2013), cited *Ohio Bell Tel. Co. v. Pub. Util. Comm'n*, 301 U.S. 292, 302-03, 57 S.Ct. 724, 729-30, 81 L.Ed. 1093, 1100-01 (1937) that, "[s]imply, for an agency to rely on facts withheld from the record is a denial of due process." *Mazzone* also cited *Drew v. Psychiatric Sec. Review Bd.*, 909 P.2d 1211, 1214 (Or. 1996), for the fundamental principal "...that fact finding in contested cases is governed exclusively by the record of the hearing." Those medical records within Claimant's Exhibit 3, pp. 46-115, were never offered into evidence but were specifically excluded therefrom. *Tr.*, p. 8, L. 12-p. 14, L. 12; and, Amended Order Regarding Hearing Exhibits, dated January 10, 2017. The Commission's consideration of these records mandates reversal on appeal.

IV. Claimant's Low Back Presentment Following the October 6, 2009, Motor Vehicle Accident was as Consequence Thereof and Compensable.

Prior to the October 6, 2009, motor vehicle accident, Mario had been employed at Meyers Farms since March 1, 1995. *Tr.*, p. 60, LL. 19-21. Although Mario was the "foreman" and had two seasonal helpers, he did exactly the same things as and worked alongside his helpers. *Tr.*, p. 64, LL. 6-12. The ICRD Job Site Evaluation, approved by both Mr. Meyers and Mario, confirmed that this employment required lifting over 100 pounds as well as climbing, bending/stooping, kneeling, crouching, twisting and crawling up to one-third of the work-day. Cl. Ex. 27, pp. 711-712.

Prior to the October 6, 2009, accident Mario was able to walk as far as he wanted, even over plowed ground; lift and carry weights up to 100 pounds, even from the ground to over his head; sit for long periods of time; and, bend, kneel and squat, all without low back discomfort. *Tr.*, p. 82, L. 20-p. 85, L. 3. Immediately following the accident, Mario notified Mr. Meyers of his back injury

and advised the Fund of back injury upon November 20, 2009. Upon December 21, 2009, Mario notified the Fund that his legs "went numb" upon standing. Cl. Ex. 25.b., pp. 673-674; 25.b.(1), pp. 674a, b(1) and c. Upon Mario's initial presentment to Dr. Reedy, he reported "...that if he stands for 20-25 minutes his legs go numb." Cl. Ex. 5, p. 150. Dr. Reedy explained that Mario's "...legs went numb because of my low back," but that it was important to treat his neck first and then his low back. *Tr.*, p. 90, L. 24-p. 91, L. 21; and, p. 92, LL. 10-21.

Mario underwent cervical discectomy with fusion by Dr. Reedy upon February 19, 2010. By April 19, 2010, Mario was complaining of shoulder pathology which Dr. Reedy noted had not been evaluated, and the Fund authorized Mario's referral to Orthopedic Associates. Cl. Ex. 5, p. 160.

Mario underwent left upper extremity surgeries by Drs. Clawson and Hessing upon December 9, 2010. Cl. Ex. 8, pp. 421-423; and, 424-428. Upon November 8, 2011, after Dr. Clawson advised that medical treatment for his upper extremity was concluded, Mario complained of lower back pain. Cl. Ex. 8, pp. 452-456. Dr. Clawson recommended that Mario "revisit" Dr. Reedy for both his neck and lower back complaints. Cl. Ex. 8, p. 456.

Mario had not earlier complained of back pain to Drs. Hessing or Clawson because his referral to those physicians was specific to his left upper extremity, and they were not "back doctors." As Dr. Reedy had assured Mario that his back would be addressed following his neck and had referred him to Drs. Hessing and Clawson, Mario waited until his care at Orthopedic Associates had concluded to then complain of his low back. *Tr.*, p. 94, L. 17-p. 95, L. 18.

Mario re-presented to Dr. Reedy upon December 5, 2011, with complaints of low back pain "...that he has had since the accident but that was never investigated." Such was strikingly similar

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