Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-31-2018

Ayala v. Robert J. Meyers Farms, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 46186

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

3. Claimant's Post-Award Motions Were Properly Denied

Claimant filed several, often contradictory, motions following the Commission's 2018 Order (hereinafter "post-award motions"). In support of his post-award motions, he offered new evidence, including claimant's affidavit stating that his income was lower in 2017 than 2016 and that he suffered a new accident and injury to his left knee in June 2017 while working for employer. R., pp. 209-216. Claimant argued that his recent accident of June 7, 2017 and his income reduction in 2017 constitutes new evidence which wants a review of the Commission's

2018 Order pursuant to Idaho Code §72-718 and/or 72-719. He also asked the Commission to consolidate his 2017 claim with his 2009 and 2013 claims. R., pp. 230-232. The Commission properly denied all of the claimant's post-award motions. R., pp. 279-302.

In its order denying claimant's post-award motions, the Commission rejected claimant's argument that his current employment "punishes" claimant for continuing to work in his time of injury position. The Commission correctly concluded that the workers compensation system did what it was intended to do, pay income and medical benefits supporting his recovery and return to gainful employment. R., p. 284.

The Commission also rejected the claimant's claim that his 2017 drop in earnings undercut one of the bases of the Commission's decision to award him a 40% disability. This was due, in part, to the claimant's failure to prove that his drop in earnings was caused by any limitations due to his 2009 or 2013 injuries. It was also due to the fact that the Commission considered the potential that he would lose employment when it awarded him a 40% disability when, based upon the fact of his continued employment and likely employment until he decides to retire, they could have awarded him no disability. R., pp. 284-285.

The Commission also properly denied claimant's Motion for Modification pursuant to Idaho Code §72-719. The two grounds for his motion were: (1) that Claimant suffered a "significant and substantial change in the nature or extent of his disablement" and (2) to correct a manifest injustice. With regard to the alleged manifest injustice, the claimant argued that to avoid a manifest injustice the record must be reopened to allow consideration of claimant's

changed circumstances, his 2017 knee injury and his decreased earnings in 2017. R., 292. This motion was properly denied by the Commission because the claimant's 2017 claim was not part of these proceedings as it was a new, separate claim, and he offered no evidence of a nexus between his decreased earnings and his 2009 and 2013 injuries.

Idaho Code §72-719 allows the Commission to modify an award only if there is a "[c]hange in the nature or extent of the employee's injury or disablement." I.C. § 72-719(1)(a). The Idaho Supreme Court has made the claimant's burden of establishing a change in condition under I.C. § 72-719(1)(a) clear:

When a Claimant applies for modification of an award due to a change in condition under I.C. § 72-719(a), the Claimant bears the burden of showing a change in condition. *Matthews v. Dep't of Corr.*, 121 Idaho 680, 681, 827 P.2d 693, 694 (1992) (citing *Boshers v. Payne*, 58 Idaho 109, 70 P.2d 391 (1937)). The Claimant is "required to make a showing before the Commission that he had an increased level of impairment, *and to establish with reasonable medical probability the existence of a causal relationship between the change in condition and the initial accident and injury." <i>Matthews*, 121 Idaho at 681-82, 827 P.2d at 694-95 (internal citations omitted).

Magee v. Thompson Creek Min. Co., 152 Idaho 196, 201 268 P.3d 464, 469 (2012) (emphasis added). Therefore, it is clear that Claimant must establish with reasonable medical probability the existence of a causal relationship between the change of condition/disablement and his 2009 and 2013 accidents/injuries.

Claimant ignored Supreme Court precedent set forth in *Magee* because he based his change in condition argument upon a 2017 injury to his left knee. Claimant must establish with

reasonable medical probability the existence of a causal relationship between the change of condition/disablement and his 2009 and 2013 injuries. Claimant offered no proof, facts or other argument as required by this Court in *Magee*. Claimant offered no evidence or facts that his 2017 left knee injury was related to his 2009 or 2013 accidents/injuries. The Commission noted that since claimant conceded that his motion was not premised on any change in the nature or extent of his physical injuries related to his 2009 and 2013 accidents, his motion was denied. R., p. 332.

Claimant also argued that the restrictions attributable to his 2017 left knee injury support his claim that he is totally and permanently disabled; therefore his 2017 claim should be consolidated with his 2009 and 2013 claims. This argument is frivolous and directly contradicts his representations to this Court that he was totally and permanently disabled based upon his 2009 and 2013 injuries. The Commission properly rejected claimant's motion to reopen. R., pp. 332-333.

C. The Commission's Decision to Draft The 2018 Order Was A Proper Exercise of Its Power Under Idaho Code §72-506, Was Not an Abuse of Discretion and Did Not Violate Claimant's Due Process Rights

Under Idaho's statutory scheme, the Commission is the final arbiter of contested worker's compensation claims in Idaho. Relying on Idaho Code §72-506, this Court has made it clear that any findings or awards are not deemed final until they have been approved and/or confirmed by the Commission. *Zapata v. J.R. Simplot Company*, 132 Idaho 513, 516, 975 P.2d 1178, 1181 (1999). Pursuant to Idaho Code §72-506(2), any findings of fact made by a referee are merely *recommendations* to the Commission which, upon review, the Commission could

either adopt or enter its own findings. *Lorca-Merono v. Yokes Washington Foods, Inc.*, 137 Idaho 446, 451, 50 P.3d 461, 466 (2002); see also Idaho Code §72-717. "The Commission need not explain why it did not adopt certain findings recommended by the referee." *Id.* Furthermore, ultimately the Commission decides what weight should be given to the facts and conclusions drawn from those facts. *Zapata*, 132 Idaho at 515, 978 P.2d at 1180.

In the present case, Referee Powers presided over the hearing. Unfortunately, Referee Powers faced a significant case backlog that would result in a delay of the decision. Therefore, he did not prepare recommended findings of fact and conclusions of law for the Commission's review. Over the objections of the parties, the Commission determined that its "obligation to manage our docket to promote timely decisions supports assignment of this matter to the Commission." R., p. 133. The Commission has the authority to use its discretion to manage its docket and decide the case based upon the record before it, including the hearing transcript. Compare, *Van Heukelom v. Pine Crest Psychiatric Center*, 160 Idaho 898, 900, 684 P.2d 300, 302 (1984) (Commission's failure to have a transcript of the proceedings before it rendered its decision denied claimant's due process rights). It is immaterial that the referee did not prepare recommended findings of fact and conclusions of law because the Commission could have disregarded them and reached its own findings and conclusions as provided by Idaho Code §§72-506 and 72-717.

While former Justice Jim Jones, in a concurring opinion, was critical of the Commission's decision not to adopt the referee's recommendations and issuing their own

findings of fact, conclusions of law and order; he felt the Commission should provide discussion in future cases as to why it made a determination to discard the referee's recommendation and issue its own findings of fact, conclusions of law and order. *Kelly v. Blue Ribbon Linen Supply. Inc.*, 159 Idaho 324, 330, 360 P.3d 333, 339 (2015). In this case, the Commission stated the rationale for its decision to write its own findings of fact, conclusions of law and order, i.e., management of its docket to promote timely decisions. R., p. 133.

The Commission also noted that the outcome of the case did not turn on an assessment of the claimant's observational credibility. *Id.* This Court has stated that observational credibility "goes to the demeanor of the appellant on the witness stand" and it "requires that the Commission actually be present for the hearing" in order to judge it. *Painter v. Potlatch Corporation*, 138 Idaho 309, 313, 63 P.3d 435, 439 (2003). In the present case, the claimant's observational credibility was not an issue. Claimant testified extensively to his perceived limitations due to the injuries he suffered in his motor vehicle accident and his 2013 right knee injury. See, TR.,, pp. 99-101; 111-119. In its 2018 Order, the Commission made no mention of the claimant's credibility as it related to his demeanor. In fact, no one disputed that the claimant suffered from a significant low back condition at the time of the hearing; the only dispute was whether this condition was caused by his 2009 accident a hotly contested and disputed issue.

On the other hand, this Court has held that the Commission may judge a claimant's substantive credibility. *Painter*, 138 Idaho at 313, 63 P.3d at 439. Substantive credibility "may be judged on the grounds of numerous inaccuracies or conflicting facts and does not require the

presence of the commission at hearing." *Id.* In its 2018 Order, the Commission analyzed the claimant's substantive credibility by noting that his medical records contradicted his testimony that he had unrelenting low back pain since his 2009 accident and that it was his practice to only address his most predominant complaint with his treating physicians. 2018 Order, ¶¶ 74-75; R., pp. 172-175. As is shown above, there is substantial and competent evidence to support the Commission's findings that claimant failed to prove his low back condition was caused by his 2009 accident.

The Commission did not deny the claimant's due process rights because he had an opportunity upon reasonable notice for a fair hearing before an impartial tribunal. *Elias-Cruz v. Idaho Dep't of Transp.*, 153 Idaho 2000, 2004, 280 P.3d 703, 707 (2012). The claimant was given notice of the issues to be decided at hearing, offered documentary evidence, offered his client's and his experts' testimony, briefed the issues and filed post-hearing motions. A review of the 2018 Order indicates that the Commission conducted an exhaustive review of the extensive documentary exhibits and the witness testimony to reach its ultimate findings of fact and conclusions of law that are supported by substantial and competent evidence. Thus, the Commission did not deny the claimant his due process rights.

D. The Commission Properly Considered Admitted Evidence in Reaching Its 2018 Order

Claimant alleges that the Commission considered two pages of allegedly excluded evidence in reaching its 2018 Order, specifically pages 65 and 115 of claimant's Exhibit 3 that document claimant's complaints of long standing low back pain in 2004 and 2007. However, an

examination of the Commission's 2018 Order and the admitted exhibits demonstrate that references to the treatment reflected in these records were already admitted into evidence and, alternatively, the reference to these two pages by the Commission constitutes harmless error.

The claimant in his Rule 10 Disclosure disclosed his intent to offer treatment records from GFHC between 2001 and his October 5, 2009 accident. R., p. 49; Cl. Ex. 3. Defendants in their Rule 10 Disclosure specifically reserved "the right to introduce any exhibit(s) offered by any other party." R., p. 46. At the start of the hearing, claimant's counsel asked to withdraw pages 46 through 115 of Exhibit 3. Tr., p. 8, ll. 12 – 16. However, defendants' counsel moved for admission of these pages because they were relevant and mentioned in an expert report. Tr., p. 13, Ll. 16 – 18. Ultimately, the referee excluded these relevant exhibits from the record. R., p. 73.

Claimant's counsel, however, failed to move for exclusion of all of the exhibits that documented the claimant's complaints of long standing low back problems on May 21, 2007 as reflected on page 115 of claimant's Exhibit 3. As a result, the substance of this treatment note was admitted into evidence in claimant's Exhibit 6 page 349 and Exhibit 20 at pages 601 and 629. In its 2018 Order, the Commission noted that claimant's counsel *quoted* this treatment note in a letter to Vernon McCready requesting an opinion regarding causation on November 5, 2015 and that Dr. Harris relied upon this treatment note in his expert report regarding causation. R., p. 129, fn1; See, Cl. Ex. 6, p. 349; Cl. Ex. 20, pp. 601 and 629. As a result, the May 21, 2007 treatment note documenting claimant's complaints involving the right hip and SI region for over

two years without recent trauma, which claimant's counsel referenced in one of claimant's exhibits that was admitted into evidence, was properly admitted into evidence and could be relied upon by the Commission in reaching its 2018 Order.

The records claimant initially intended to offer as evidence but later withdrew at the time of hearing referenced the low back symptoms the claimant's counsel acknowledged that claimant had been experiencing prior to his motor vehicle accident. See, Cl. Ex. 6, p.635. Dr. Harris and Vernon McCready relied upon them in preparing causation opinions. These records were referenced in exhibits that were admitted into evidence. The only reason claimant's counsel sought to exclude their admission at the time of hearing was because he knew they contained evidence documenting his client's long-standing low back issues. To the extent the Court believes the Commission erred in considering these two pages, claimant's counsel led the Commission into error.

More importantly, claimant's counsel's last-minute attempt to exclude this evidence while referencing the medical treatment in other admitted exhibits and then claiming that the Commission improperly considered the substance of these medical records sets a dangerous precedent in workers compensation cases. Practitioners in workers compensation often give medical records to doctors when soliciting causation opinions. Surety gave these records to Drs. Harris and Montalbano and claimant's counsel referenced this record in his letter to PA McCready. These records were relevant and claimant gave his notice of intent to seek their admission at the hearing. Claimant's decision to attempt to exclude these exhibits over

defendants' objection without removing any reference to the substance of these records in other admitted exhibits invited any alleged error by the Commission in considering these treatment records.

The Commission's decision to admit medical records into evidence is a matter of discretion. *Fonseca v. Corral Agric., Inc.,* 156 Idaho 142, 149, 321 P.3d 692, 699 (2014). Whether to exclude or admit evidence in worker's compensation cases is precisely the kind of the decision subject to the Commission's discretion. *Hagler v. Micron Tech., Inc.,* 118 Idaho 596, 598, 798 P.2d 55, 57 (1990). Pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard of review, this Court "will not supplant the views" of the Commission with its own. *State v. Windom,* 150 Idaho 873, 875, 253 P.3d 310, 312 (2011). The Commission's decision to consider and thus "admit" the actual medical records documenting medical treatment referenced in other admitted exhibits is not an abuse of discretion.

Finally, even if this Court considers the Commission's consideration of the two pages of medical records to be in error, the error is harmless. This Court will not reverse the decision of the Commission when evidentiary issues are harmless. *Hagler*, 118 Idaho at 599, 788 P.2d at 58. Here the Commission acknowledged that it was undisputed that the claimant had pre-existing degenerative disease of his lumbar spine and that the issue was whether the motor vehicle accident in 2009 caused permanent injury to his lumbar spine such that his need for medical treatment in 2016 was related to said accident. 2018 Order, ¶ 68, R., p. 168. The Commission acknowledged that exclusion of these two records referencing periodic low back pain "would not

change any aspect of the Commission's decision; as noted, there is other evidence of record which establishes that Claimant did have some pre-injury low back symptoms." 2018 Order, fn 1, R., p. 130. Since there were references to the claimant's pre-accident treatment for low back symptoms that had been long-standing, which were otherwise admitted and are of record, the Commission's consideration of the 2004 and May 21, 2007 treatment notes is harmless.

E. The Claimant Is Not Entitled to an Award of Attorney Fees

Idaho Code § 72-804 permits an award of attorneys' fees in three limited circumstances:

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